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CHAIRMAN’S ADDRESS
Dear Shareholder,
The 2014 financial year has been a successful and exciting period for Pacifico Minerals Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Pacifico” or “Group”) and I am pleased to be able to present to you the Annual Financial & Operations Report for 2014.
Following the settlement of the West Rock Resources (“West Rock”) acquisition in August 2013, Pacifico has transformed
into a Colombian focussed precious metals and copper explorer. As part of the West Rock acquisition, the Group completed
a $1.7 million capital raising which was strongly supported by the Pacifico’s leading shareholders and was underpinned by
Argonaut Limited, who fully underwrote the issue.
Management changes were also made with John Hannaford resigning as a Non-Executive Director, Simon Noon appointed
as Managing Director and Peter Harold appointed as a Non-Executive Director.
In late 2013, Pacifico entered into an agreement to acquire an interest in the Berrio Gold Project which has become the
main focus for the Group. Successful channel sampling was undertaken on the project as part of the pre-acquisition due
diligence early in 2014. Subsequently, Pacifico raised $5.8 million via a $3.6 million placement and $2.2 million share
purchase plan, both of which were oversubscribed. Funds raised enabled the Group to aggressively explore high priority
prospects at Berrio with a maiden drilling campaign undertaken in May 2014. This drilling campaign extended mineralisation
and improved our understanding of the geology and gold mineralisation characteristics with several mineralised structures
identified that warranted further drilling.
Pacifico also confirmed the successful registration of an exploration licence application for the Natagaima Copper/Silver
Project late in the 2014 financial year. Through the addition of Berrio and Natagaima as well as the existing Urrao Project
(Colombia) and our interest in the Borroloola West Project (Northern Territory) acquired through the acquisition of West
Rock Resources, Pacifico has rights to explore four exciting and prospective projects.
In the year ahead, Pacifico will undertake further drilling at Berrio whilst advancing other projects. Importantly, all current and
potential projects will be assessed and rationalised so as not to spread focus too thin.
Even though we continue our focus on our Colombian assets we continue to explore the Borroloola Project in Australia and
remain excited about the base metal and manganese potential of this Project.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Board of Directors and the employees and consultants who make up
the Pacifico team. I look forward to continued exploration success in the 2015 financial year.
Yours sincerely

Richard Monti
Chairman
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT
This review may include forward-looking statements regarding Pacifico Minerals Ltd and its consolidated entities’ (the
“Group”) financial position, business strategy, and plans and objectives for future operations, which have been based on the
Group’s current expectations about future events. These forward-looking statements are, however, subject to known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ
materially from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such
forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Group’s present and future business
strategies and the environment in which the Group will operate in the future. The statements reflect views held only as at the
date of this document. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking statements discussed in this
document might not occur. Investors are therefore cautioned not to place undue reliance on these statements. Subject to any
continuing obligations under applicable law or the Listing Rules, the Group expressly disclaims any obligation to disseminate
after the date of this Report any updates or revisions to any such forward-looking statements to reflect any change in
expectations or events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statements are based.
While this review is based on information from sources which the Group considers reliable, the Group, its Board of Directors,
employees or associates do not represent, warrant, expressly or impliedly, that the information contained in this review is
complete or accurate. Any opinions expressed reflect the Group’s judgment at this date and is subject to change. The Group,
its Board of Directors and employees do not accept any liability for the results of any actions taken or not taken on the basis
of information in this review, or for any negligent misstatements, errors or omissions. This report is made without
consideration of any specific shareholders investment objectives, financial situation or needs. Those acting upon such
information without first consulting an investment advisor do so entirely at their own risk. It is recommended that any persons
who wish to act upon this review consult an investment advisor before doing so.
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OPERATIONS REPORT – COLOMBIA

Figure 1: Pacifico project location map
BERRIO PROJECT, COLOMBIA – GOLD (PACIFICO EARNING UP TO 90%)
The Berrio Gold Project is situated in the southern part of the prolific Segovia Gold Belt and is characterised by a number of
operational, artisanal-scale adits, tunnels, and declines. It is considered to be an intrusion related mesothermal deposit with
indications of epizonal mineralisation. The project is 35km from the Magdalena River which is navigable to the Caribbean
Sea and has excellent infrastructure in place including hydro power, sealed roads and telecommunications coverage.
Following an initial channel sampling program as part of the pre-acquisition due diligence on the project, Pacifico completed
a second phase of channel sampling in February 2014. 665 composite samples were collected as part of the two sampling
programs. The best samples identified mineralisation over 106m with 53 contiguous samples averaging 18.9 g/t Au (see ASX
announcement 25 February 2014). In May 2014, Pacifico commenced its maiden drilling campaign at Berrio testing the
geology and mineralisation beneath the high grade gold tunnel samples. An induced polarisation survey was also
commissioned to help with the understanding of the orientation and plunge of the mineralised zones on the property.
Subsequent to period end, Pacifico provided an update on the maiden drilling program at Berrio. Drilling successfully
intersected high grade mineralisation in multiple zones including 16m at 11.2g/t Au and confirmed the correlation between
induced polarisation anomalies and mineralisation. The Group will commence a higher intensity follow up drill program in the
third quarter of the calendar year 2014 which is aimed at defining the quantum and controls on high grade mineralisation and
extend the dimensions of thicker zones of lower grade mineralisation.
Prior to the commencement of the maiden drilling program, Pacifico also completed construction of a new operations centre
to facilitate onsite core logging, cutting and sample preparation prior to delivery to SGS Labs in Medellin for assays. People
from the nearby towns of El Vapor and La Floresta were hired to assist with the construction of the operations centre and
drilling platforms.
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Figure 2: Berrio project location map and associated infrastructure
NATAGAIMA PROJECT, COLOMBIA – COPPER/SILVER (PACIFICO LODGED APPLICATION FOR 100%)
The Natagaima licence application is situated in the department of Tolima, approximately 5km west of the navigable
Magdalena River which drains into the Caribbean Sea. It is located within the Middle Cauca Porphyry Belt.
In May 2014, Pacifico confirmed the successful registration of an exploration licence application (PE5-08001) for the
Natagaima Copper/Silver Project. Colombia currently operates a “first right” system with its licence application process and
Pacifico was the first to register its application upon the area becoming available for application. This 5,236 hectare
concession is located near existing electrical lines, roads, rail line and a major river. The central part of the Natagaima
licence application was previously sampled by INGEOMINAS, the Colombian Institute of Geology and Mining. Positive
geochemical anomalies were discovered that are open in several directions demonstrating the high prospectivity of the
licence area.
The Saldaña Formation at Natagaima is a complex volcano-sedimentary sequence of faulted blocks, composed of tuffs,
agglomerates, lava flows, shallow marine and continental sedimentary rocks, and porphyritic bodies, which is an excellent
combination for world class deposits of copper, silver, and gold. Extensive Cu veining with >1% Cu surface geochemistry
targets have been identified over approximately 2km2 in the Saldaña Formation within the concession. Minerals observed
include malachite, azurite, chalcopyrite, bornite covellite and native copper.
Approximately two thirds of Pacifico’s licence application is contained within the Saldaña Formation, known to be an
important host to deposits of copper, silver, and gold. A study on the Saldaña Formation completed in 2003 by the Economic
Geology Research Institute, University of Witwatersrand in South Africa, demonstrated the geological and mineralogical
fertility of this formation.
Further exploration work, to commence in the near term, will consist of geological mapping, soil and rock geochemical
sampling, the design of an airborne geophysical survey for definition of Jurassic porphyritic intrusives and regional structures
characterised by their magnetic and radiometric signatures.
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Figure 3: Location map of rock chip samples taken by INGEOMINAS showing general ranges of Cu values (left)
and Ag values (right). Pacifico concession application is within red line and excludes areas within blue and green
lines.
URRAO PROJECT, COLOMBIA – COPPER/GOLD/SILVER (PACIFICO 51%, EARNING UP TO 100%)
The Urrao Project is part of the Choco porphyry copper belt and is located 35km north west of Tarso in the municipality of
Urrao and Salgar. The project consists of two granted titles covering a total area of approximately 1105 hectares. Pacifico
has also successfully registered exploration licence applications that include 23,781 hectares covering 5 new areas that are
contiguous to or in close proximity to our present titles.
During the financial year, Pacifico conducted a brief stream sediment program which confirmed the existence and location of
previously identified anomalous Cu and Au in several drainages. Pacifico has also re-negotiated significantly more
favourable acquisition terms including the removal of all exploration expenditure commitments and the added ability to
acquire 100% of the project. Tenement 2790 was dropped and subsequently applied for as part of a bigger package of
exploration licence applications.
Future exploration will focus on a new stream sediment sampling program on the new concession areas where historical
stream sediment results show significantly anomalous Au and Cu geochemical values over large areas in two of the main
drainages. General geological and structural interpretations indicate that Urrao is host to rocks favourable for the
development of large scale porphyry copper deposits. Geological mapping and outcrop and mineralised stream boulder
sampling will run concurrent with the stream sediment program. Based on the results of the larger scale stream sediment
sampling program, additional field work would include soil sampling grids to define the lateral limits of the stream sediment
anomalies.
TARSO PROJECT, COLOMBIA – COPPER/GOLD/SILVER (PACIFICO PREVIOUSLY EARNING UP TO 100%)
Towards the end of the financial year, the Board of Directors resolved to exit the farm-in agreement for the Tarso project and
subsequently notified the vendor and terminated the farm-in agreement.
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OPERATIONS REPORT – AUSTRALIA
BORROLOOLA WEST PROJECT, NORTHERN TERRITORY – COPPER/ZINC/MANGANESE (ALLIANCE EARNING UP
TO 80%)
The Borroloola West Project is a large greenfields exploration project covering 2,506 km² in East Arnhem Land of the
Northern Territory, 600km southeast of Darwin. Comprising 15 exploration licences and 1 mining licence, the project area is
underlain by the Neoproterozoic McArthur Basin, the northern extension of the Mt Isa Basin and host to several world-class
SEDEX deposits including the Western Fold Belt copper deposits at Mt Isa and the HYC zinc/lead/silver deposits currently
being mined at the McArthur River mine just 15km east of the project tenements.

Figure 4: Borroloola West Project project location map
The project area also lies 175 km SSW of the world-class Groote Eylandt manganese mine and basement rocks, particularly
in the northern parts of the tenement block, which are overlain by the same marine Cretaceous units as at Groote with a
similar paleogeographic setting and depositional environment. The Cretaceous basins underlying the tenements are still
relatively unexplored with several partly drilled manganese prospects and untested geophysical anomalies. The highly
prospective near coastal concession ELA26599 has never been drilled or adequately sampled for Mn. The exploration
conducted by Pacifico on the Borroloola West Project has further enhanced the regions prospectivity for sediment-hosted
Cu, SEDEX base metal mineralisation (Zn/Pb/Ag), and Groote Eylandt-style Mn deposits.
During the 2014 financial year, Pacifico completed 13 aircore drill holes designed to provide stratigraphic and geochemical
information in order to better assess manganese and copper potential mainly within the Towns and Lorella prospects. A total
of 676m was drilled with depths ranging from 27m to 84m, including up to 71m of pre-Proterozoic cover (mainly shallow
marine sediments of Cretaceous age). Drilling at EL26939 extended anomalous copper mineralisation approximately 800m
north of known mineralisation (Tawallah 1).
Pacifico Minerals Ltd | Annual Report 2014
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BORROLOOLA WEST PROJECT, NORTHERN TERRITORY – COPPER/ZINC/MANGANESE (ALLIANCE EARNING UP
TO 80%) (CONTINUED)
Pacifico also completed reconnaissance mapping across the southern areas. Key results included the identification of visible
copper mineralisation (malachite and azurite) in at least three areas, and the delineation of a possible gossan in bedded
cherty dolomite, measuring approximately 800m by 400m, on the eastern limb of the Hot Springs anticline (EL28608).
All existing geophysical data was compiled and evaluated with a view to defining target areas for follow-up ground
investigation. This work, conducted by PGN Geoscience, resulted in three reports; two focused on interpretation of mainly
airborne magnetic data and satellite imagery and a third that employed 3D inversion modelling of the Lorella (Tawallah 1),
Coppermine Creek, Berjaya and Bing Bong prospects.
In July 2013, the Group, and its strategic alliance partner, Cliffs Natural Resources Exploration Inc. (“Cliffs”), signed a binding
agreement with Sandfire Resources NL to acquire up to an 80% interest in the Borroloola West Project. The Borroloola West
Project was accepted by Cliffs as a property of merit and designated as a joint venture under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement entered into on 6 July 2012.
The Strategic Alliance Agreement with Cliffs ended on 8 February 2014. The participation of Cliffs in the Borroloola West
Project is still the subject of ongoing discussions.
MOUNT JUKES PROJECT, TASMANIA – GOLD/BASE METALS (PACIFICO 20%, CORONA MINERALS LTD 80%)
The Mt Jukes Project is adjacent to the Vedanta owned Mt Lyell copper/gold project in Tasmania. Corona Minerals Ltd
(“Corona”) is the operator and manager of this project. Further details can be found on Corona’s website
www.coronaminerals.com.
SPRINGFIELD PROJECT, NEW SOUTH WALES – GOLD (PACIFICO 20%, STONEWALL RESOURCES LTD 80%)
The licence covers 70km2 centred between Gulgong and Mudgee, 220km northwest of Sydney, NSW. Pacifico is awaiting
notice of future exploration programs proposed by its JV partner, Stonewall Resources Ltd (“Stonewall”). Further details can
be found on Stonewall’s website www.stonewallresources.com.
WILSON RIVER PROJECT, TASMANIA – LEAD/ZINC/SILVER (PACIFICO 100%)
The Group is relinquishing this project and as part of the process Mineral Resources Tasmania undertook a site visit in April
2014 and will conduct a follow up site visit in October 2014. Pacifico has been advised that the $57,000 bond will be
refunded once there is evidence rehabilitation has been successful. The refund is expected to be received in the 2015
financial year.

Pacifico Minerals Ltd | Annual Report 2014

Page 11

COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENTS
The information in this Annual Report that relates to Berrio, Natagaima and Urrao Projects is based on information compiled
by Mr John Kieley, who is a Member of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Newfoundland and
Labrador (PEGNL), Canada. Mr Kieley is an employee of Pacifico Minerals Limited. Mr Kieley has sufficient experience
which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is
undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr Kieley consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters
based on information in the form and context in which it appears.
The information in this Annual Report that relates to the Borroloola West Project is based on information compiled by Mr
Barrie Bolton, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Bolton is a consultant to Pacifico
Minerals Limited. Mr Bolton has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit
under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012
Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr Bolton
consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on information in the form and context in which it appears.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Your Board of Directors (“Board” or “Directors”) submit their report for the year ended 30 June 2014.
DIRECTORS
The names and details of the Directors of Pacifico Minerals Limited (“the Company”) and its consolidated entities (“the
Group”) in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows. Where applicable, all current and
former directorships held in listed public companies over the last three years have been detailed below. Directors were in
office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.
Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
Non-Executive Chairman
Richard Monti BSc (Hons), Grad Dip Applied Finance & Investment, MAusIMM
Richard Monti has broad experience over a 27 year career working in the technical, commercial, marketing and financial
fields of the international exploration and mining industry. He has worked for a number of international and Australian
companies including Anaconda Nickel, RTZ Exploration, the North Group and the Normandy Group. In 2004, he founded
Ventnor Capital Pty Ltd, a boutique consultancy firm which provides corporate advisory and investment banking services
to junior and mid-cap listed resources companies. Mr Monti left Ventnor Capital in 2010 primarily to focus on Azimuth
Resources Ltd which was subsequently acquired by Troy Resources Ltd.
Directorships of other listed companies held in the last 3 years:
 Azimuth Resources Ltd (acquired by Troy Resources Ltd)
 Poseidon Nickel Ltd
 Potash Minerals Ltd
 Triton Gold Ltd (now Triton Minerals Ltd)
 Troy Resources Ltd
Managing Director (Appointed 19 August 2013)
Simon Noon MAICD, AFAIM
Simon Noon is an experienced business executive and was the co-founder and Managing Director of West Rock
Resources until it was acquired by Pacifico Minerals Ltd in 2013. Mr Noon was instrumental in the planning and execution
of West Rock Resources Colombian strategy, building a solid in-country team of industry professionals, developing key
local relationships and securing the current projects and applications. He has a solid track record in business development
with a proven ability to lead diverse teams of professionals, successfully identify potential opportunities and develop
effective strategy. Prior to establishing West Rock Resources in 2011, he was Executive Director of ASX listed company
Groote Resources Ltd (now Northern Manganese Ltd), where he managed the company from a market capitalisation of
under $5 million to market highs in excess of $100 million.
Non-Executive Director (Appointed 19 August 2013)
Peter Harold B.AppSc (Chem), AFAICD
Peter Harold is a process engineer with over 22 years corporate experience in the minerals industry. Mr Harold is the
Founder and Managing Director of nickel producer Panoramic Resources Ltd which is currently producing 20kt Ni per
annum and developing two gold and two PGM projects.
Directorships of other listed companies held in the last 3 years:
 Alloy Resources Ltd
 Panoramic Resources Ltd
 Spectrum Rare Earths Ltd
Non-Executive Director
Andrew Parker LLB
Andrew Parker holds a law degree from the University of Western Australia and has extensive experience in the
exploration and mining industry. Mr Parker was the co-founder and until 2008 was the Managing Director of Perth based
corporate advisory and venture capital firm, Trident Capital Pty Ltd. Prior to establishing Trident Capital Pty Ltd in 2002, he
was legal counsel to B Digital Limited, an ASX listed company, with his principal role being to oversee the international
expansion of the company into South Africa and the USA. Mr Parker has held a number of executive and non-executive
directorships with ASX listed companies over the last 15 years.
Directorships of other listed companies held in the last 3 years:
 Indus Coal Ltd
Pacifico Minerals Ltd | Annual Report 2014
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Non-Executive Director
John Hannaford BCom, Grad Dip CA, F.Fin.
(Resigned 19 August 2013)
John Hannaford is a Chartered Accountant who has worked in various corporate roles within the resources sector in
Australia, Asia and Europe. In 2004, Mr Hannaford established Ventnor Capital, to provide specialist corporate advice to
companies within the resources industries. Prior to establishing Ventnor Capital, Mr Hannaford provided administrative,
corporate and strategic financial advice to resource companies and was a Company Secretary or Financial Controller for
many of these companies.
Directorships of other listed companies held in last 3 years;
 Bone Medical Ltd
 Emerald Oil & Gas NL
 Monterey Mining Group Ltd
 Orinoco Gold Ltd
Company Secretary
Joshua Ward BCom, Grad Dip CA, Grad Dip Applied Finance
(Appointed 1 December 2013)
Joshua Ward is a Chartered Accountant with extensive experience with IPO’s, capital raisings and financial compliance,
predominantly in the resources industry. Mr Ward has worked in various corporate roles in Australia, UK and USA. Mr
Ward has significant company secretarial and CFO experience in the junior resources sector and brings a strong financial
reporting and governance background to the Company.
Company Secretary
Patrick Holywell BCom, Grad Dip CA, GAICD
(Appointed 1 July 2014)
Patrick Holywell is a Chartered Accountant with over ten years of experience in accounting and finance including
employment with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Ltd and Patersons Securities Ltd. Mr Holywell has been employed by and
acted as company secretary and/or director of a number of companies in the resources and services industries.
Company Secretary
Lynton McCreery
(Resigned 30 November 2013)
Lynton McCreery is an accountant who has been a director, company secretary or acted in a corporate advisory capacity
to listed Australian companies over the past 30 years. Mr McCreery is a member of Certified Practicing Accountants and
has had extensive experience in capital raisings specifically for the resources industry. Mr McCreery is the Principal of
Rymad Consultants Pty Ltd, providing company secretarial and accounting services.
Interests in the shares and options of the Company
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Pacifico Minerals Limited were:
Directors
Richard Monti
Simon Noon
Peter Harold
Andrew Parker
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Shares
18,835,308
18,857,817
4,250,495
3,717,596

Options over
Ordinary Shares
7,500,000
17,897,403
7,875,000
7,500,000
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FINANCIAL AND OPERATING REVIEW
(a)

Financial Review

The Group began the 2014 financial year with a cash reserve of $336,689. As part of the acquisition of West Rock
Resources the Group raised a further $1,702,959 and following the acquisition of the Berrio Gold Project, the Group raised
a further $5,820,000 through a $3,610,000 placement and a $2,210,000 Share Purchase Plan. During the year total
exploration expenditure incurred by the Group amounted to $1,200,236 (2013: $119,910). In line with the Group’s
accounting policies, all exploration expenditure incurred in the ordinary course of operations was written off at year end. Net
administration expenditure incurred amounted to $48,014 (2013: $54,903). The result for the year was an operating loss
after income tax of $2,854,204 (2013: $537,249). At 30 June 2014 available cash funds totalled $5,534,789 (2013:
$336,689).
(b)

Operating Review

Summarised operating results for the year are as follows:
2014
Geographic segments
Australia
Revenues and loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense
Colombia
Revenues and loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense

Shareholder Returns
Basic loss per share (cents per share)

Revenues
$

Results
$

502,344

(1,205,009)

-

(1,649,194)

2014
(0.71)

2013
(0.37)

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that activities are
aligned with the risks and opportunities identified by the Board. The Board believes that it is crucial for all Board members to
be a part of this process, and as such the Board has not established a separate risk management committee. The Board
has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management's objectives and activities are aligned with the risks
identified by the Board. These include the following:
 Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses strategy statements designed to meet stakeholders’ needs and
manage business risk.
 Implementation of Board approved operating plans and budgets and Board monitoring of progress against these
budgets.
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There have been no significant changes in the affairs of the Group during the year.
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE
No matters or circumstances, besides those disclosed at note 28, have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of
affairs of the Group in future financial years.
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS
The Group expects to maintain the present status and level of operations and hence there are no likely developments in the
Group's operations.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration activities. The Group aims to
ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and is in compliance
with all environmental legislation. The Directors of the Company are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation
for the year under review.
REMUNERATION REPORT
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
B. Details of remuneration
C. Service agreements
D. Share-based compensation
E. Additional information
The information provided under headings A-D includes remuneration disclosures that are required under Accounting
Standard AASB 1024 Related Party Disclosures. These disclosures have been transferred from the financial report and
have been audited. The disclosures in Section E are additional disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001 and the
Corporations Regulations 2001 which have not been audited
A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited)
Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy of the Company has been designed to align director and executive objectives with shareholder
and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long-term incentives based on
key performance areas affecting the Group’s financial results. The Board believes the remuneration policy to be
appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best executives and directors to run and manage the Group.
The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for Board members and senior executives of
the Group is as follows:
• The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior
executives, was developed by the Board. All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such
as length of service and experience) and superannuation. The Board reviews executive packages annually by
reference to the Group’s performance, executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors
and other listed companies in similar industries.
• The Board may exercise discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options. The policy is
designed to attract and retain the highest calibre of executives and reward them for performance that results in
long-term growth in shareholder wealth.
• Executives are also entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangements.
• The executive directors and executives receive superannuation guarantee contributions required by the
government, amounting to 9.25% during the year (9.5% from 1 July 2014) and do not receive any other
retirement benefits.
• All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Group and expensed. Options are
valued using the Black-Scholes methodology.
The Board’s policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time,
commitment and responsibilities. The Board determines payments to the non-executive directors and reviews their
remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when
required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (currently $200,000). Fees for non-executive directors are not linked to the
performance of the Group. However, to align directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged
to hold shares in the Company.
Performance based remuneration
The Group currently has no performance based remuneration component built into director and executive remuneration
packages.
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Group performance, shareholder wealth and directors' and executives’ remuneration
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase the direct positive relationship between shareholders’ investment
objectives and directors’ and executives’ performance. Currently, this is facilitated through the issue of options to the
majority of directors and executives to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests. The Board believes
this policy will be effective in increasing shareholder wealth. At commencement of mine production, performance based
bonuses based on key performance indicators are expected to be introduced.
B. Details of remuneration (audited)
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the Key Management Personnel (“KMP” as defined in AASB 124 Related
Party Disclosures) of the Group are set out in the following table. The key management personnel of the Group include the
Directors and company secretary, as seen below. Given the size and nature of operations of the Group, there are no other
employees who are required to have their remuneration disclosed in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001.
Key Management Personnel Compensation
Short-Term

KMP

Salary
& Fees
$

Non-Monetary
$

Post-Employment
Superannuation
$

Directors
Richard Monti
2014
39,000
3,608
2013
36,000
3,240
Simon Noon (appointed 19 August 2013)
2014
158,965
14,718
2013
Peter Harold (appointed 19 August 2013)
2014
31,258
2,891
2013
Andrew Parker
2014
36,000
3,330
2013
36,000
3,240
John Hannaford (resigned 19 August 2013)
2014
4,742
431
2013
36,000
3,240
Other Key Management Personnel
Country Manager
John Kieley (appointed 7 October 2013)
2014
101,720
2013
Company Secretary
Joshua Ward (appointed 1 December 2013)
2014
19,250
2013
Company Secretary
Lynton McCreery (resigned 30 November 2013)
2014
20,305
2013
30,036
Total Key Management Personnel Compensation
2014
411,240
24,978
2013
138,036
9,720

Retirement
Benefits
$

Share-based
Payments
Options
$

Total

$

Proportion of
performance
related
remuneration
%

-

43,587
14,865

86,195
54,105

50.6%
27.5%

-

-

173,683
-

-

-

-

34,149
-

-

-

43,587
14,865

82,917
54,105

52.6%
27.5%

-

14,865

5,173
54,105

27.5%

-

7,484
-

109,204
-

6.9%
-

-

5,613
-

24,863
-

22.6%
-

-

4,955

20,305
34,991

14.2%

-

100,271
49,550

536,489
197,306

The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid is $7,224 (2013: $7,975). This is not included in the Key Management
Personnel Compensation table above. The insurance is split equally over all the Directors.
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C. Service agreements (audited)
The service agreements of the KMP of the Company during the year are set out below:
(a)

Executive Services Agreement with Mr Simon Noon

The material terms of this contract are:
(i)

The remuneration is $200,000 exclusive of statutory superannuation (increased from $181,584 effective 1 July
2014).
(ii) Either party may terminate this agreement without cause on 3 months written notice. The Group may elect to pay 3
months salary and superannuation in lieu of notice.
(iii) Mr Noon will have the right to participate in the Company’s share incentive program as approved from time to time
by the Board.
(iv) During the term of this agreement, Mr Noon will not be paid a separate director’s fee for service to the Board.

(b)

Executive Services Agreement with Mr Joshua Ward

The material terms of this contract are:
(i) The remuneration is $3,000 per month exclusive of GST (increased from $2,500 effective 1 July 2014).
(ii) Term is for 6 months and at the end of this period the parties agree to meet to review the performance of this
agreement and negotiate the terms of renewed executive services agreement.
D. Share-based compensation (audited)
The following options were issued to Directors or other key management personnel as part of their remuneration during the
year of $100,271 (2013: $49,550). There were no ordinary shares issued upon exercise of remuneration options to Directors
or other KMP of the Group during the year (2013: Nil).

KMP
R. Monti
R. Monti
A. Parker
A. Parker
J. Kieley
J. Kieley
J. Ward
J. Ward

Expiry date
4 Oct 2016
4 Oct 2016
4 Oct 2016
4 Oct 2016
19 Dec 2016
19 Dec 2016
19 Dec 2016
19 Dec 2016

Exercise
Price
3 cents
6 cents
3 cents
6 cents
3 cents
6 cents
3 cents
6 cents

Number of
options
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
400,000
400,000
300,000
300,000
13,400,000

Vested at
30 June 2014
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
400,000
400,000
300,000
300,000
13,400,000

E. Additional information (unaudited)
Performance income as a proportion of total compensation
No performance based bonuses have been paid to key management personnel during the financial year (2013: Nil). It is the
intent of the Board to include performance bonuses as part of remuneration packages when mine production commences.

Pacifico Minerals Ltd | Annual Report 2014

Page 19

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Movements in shares
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held, directly, indirectly or
beneficially by each KMP, including their related parties, is shown in the table below. There were no ordinary shares issued
to directors or other KMP as part of their remuneration during the year (2013: Nil).
Held at
Received on
1 July 2013 exercise of options
10,827,500
630,557
11,458,057
-

KMP
R. Monti
S. Noon
P. Harold
A. Parker
J. Kieley
J. Ward

1.

Other
Held at
changes(1) 30 June 2014
8,007,808
18,835,308
18,857,817 18,857,817
4,250,495
4,250,495
3,087,039
3,717,596
792,081
792,081
34,995,240 46,453,297

Other changes represent shares purchased and sold during the period. Other changes for Mr S. Noon, Mr P. Harold, Mr J. Kieley and Mr J.
Ward comprise balances held as at their respective dates of appointment, plus movements during the period. There was no movement in
shares held by KMP during the period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013.

Movements in options
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options in Pacifico Minerals Limited held, directly, indirectly or
beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

KMP
R. Monti
S. Noon
P. Harold
A. Parker
J. Kieley
J. Ward

1.

Granted as
Held at
1 July 2013 Remuneration
1,500,000
6,000,000
1,500,000
6,000,000
800,000
600,000
3,000,000
13,400,000

Other
Vested at
Held at
Changes(1) 30 June 2014 30 June 2014
7,500,000
7,500,000
17,897,403 17,897,403 17,897,403
7,875,000
7,875,000
7,875,000
7,500,000
7,500,000
800,000
800,000
600,000
600,000
25,772,403 42,172,403 42,172,403

Other changes for Mr S. Noon, Mr P. Harold, Mr J. Kieley and Mr J. Ward comprise balances held as at their respective dates of appointment,
plus movements during the period. There was no movement in options held by KMP during the period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
During the year the Company held six meetings of Directors. The attendances of Directors at meetings of the Board were:

Directors
Richard Monti
Simon Noon
Peter Harold
Andrew Parker
John Hannaford

Directors Meetings 2014
A
B
6
6
6
6
5
6
6
6
-

Directors Meetings 2013
A
B
3
3
3
3
3
3

A – Number of meetings attended.
B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.
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SHARES UNDER OPTION
At the date of this report there are 91,402,597 unissued ordinary shares
balance is comprised of the following:
Exercise
Expiry date
price (cents)
31 Dec 2015
3.5
19 Jul 2016
3.0
19 Jul 2016
6.0
19 Aug 2016
3.0
4 Oct 2016
3.0
4 Oct 2016
6.0
19 Dec 2016
3.0
19 Dec 2016
6.0

in respect of which options are outstanding. The
Number of
options
5,200,000
21,311,455
20,791,142
30,000,000
6,000,000
6,000,000
1,150,000
950,000
91,402,597

No person entitled to exercise any option referred to above has or had, by virtue of the option, a right to participate in any
share issue of any other body corporate.
INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
During or since the start of the financial year, the Group has paid premiums insuring all the Directors and officers of the
Group against costs incurred in defending proceedings for conduct involving:
 a wilful breach of duty; or
 a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001, as permitted by section 199B of the Corporations
Act 2001.
The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid is $7,224 (2013: $7,975). This is not included in the Key Management
Personnel Compensation table.
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
No non-audit services were provided by the entity's auditor (Stantons International) or associated entities.
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 22.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Richard Monti
Chairman
24 September 2014
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Stantons International Audit and Consulting Pty Ltd
trading as

PO Box 1908
West Perth WA 6872
Australia

Chartered Accountants and Consultants

Level 2, 1 Walker Avenue
West Perth WA 6005
Australia
Tel: +61 8 9481 3188
Fax: +61 8 9321 1204
ABN: 84 144 581 519
www.stantons.com.au

24 September 2014
Board of Directors
Pacifico Minerals Limited
Level 10, 553 Hay St
Perth, WA 6000

Dear Sirs
RE:

PACIFICO MINERALS LIMITED

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide
the following declaration of independence to the directors of Pacifico Minerals Limited.
As the Audit Director for the audit of the consolidated financial statements of Pacifico
Minerals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2014, I declare that to the best of my
knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
(i)

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

(ii)

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully
STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LIMITED
(Trading as Stantons International)
(An Authorised Audit Company)

Martin Michalik
Director

Liability limited by a scheme approved
under Professional Standards Legislation
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The constitution of Pacifico Minerals Limited (the “Company”) provides that the number of directors shall not be less than
three and not more than nine. There is no requirement for any shareholding qualification.
As and if the Company's activities increase in size, nature and scope the size of the Board of Directors of the Company
(“Board” or “Directors”) will be reviewed periodically, and as circumstances demand. The optimum number of directors
required to supervise adequately the Company's constitution will be determined within the limitations imposed by the
constitution.
The membership of the Board, its activities and composition, is subject to periodic review. The criteria for determining the
identification and appointment of a suitable candidate for the Board shall include quality of the individual, background of
experience and achievement, compatibility with other Board members, credibility within the Company's scope of activities,
intellectual ability to contribute to Board's duties and physical ability to undertake Board's duties and responsibilities.
The Board comprises individuals with the following skills that are deemed to be relevant to the organisations activities
(ranked 1 to 3 with 3 being the highest ranking):
Skill

Requirements Overview

Mining

Experience with mining operations, management of
mining equipment and human capital, including health
and safety. Ability to analyse mining operations and
make decisions to maximise profitability.
Ability to plan, execute and analyse mineral exploration
programs and results. Ability to progress exploration
projects through to development and operation.
Identify key risks to the organisation related to each key
area of operations. Ability to monitor risk and compliance
and knowledge of legal and regulatory requirements.
Experience in accounting and finance to analyse financial
statements, assess financial viability, contribute to
financial planning, oversee budgets, and oversee funding
arrangements.
Ability to identify and critically assess strategic
opportunities and threats to the organisation. Develop
strategies in context to our policies and business cycles.
Ability to identify key issues for the organisation and
develop appropriate policy parameters within which the
organisation should operate.

Mineral
Exploration
Risk &
Compliance
Financial &
Audit

Strategy

Governance &
Policy
Development

Director
1

Director
2

Director
3

Director
4

3

2

2

2

3

3

2

2

3

3

2

3

3

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

3

2

3

3

Directors are initially appointed by the full Board subject to election by shareholders at the next general meeting. Under the
Company's constitution the tenure of a director (other than managing director, and only one managing director where the
position is jointly held) is subject to reappointment by shareholders not later than the third anniversary following his or her
last appointment. Subject to the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, the Board does not subscribe to the principle of
retirement age and there is no maximum period of service as a director. A managing director may be appointed for any
period and on any terms the directors think fit and, subject to the terms of any agreement entered into, the directors may
revoke any appointment.
The Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity to justify the formation
of separate or special committees at this time. The Board as a whole is able to address the governance aspects of the full
scope of the Company's activities and to ensure that it adheres to appropriate ethical standards.
DISCLOSURE ON WEB SITE
The Company’s Corporate Governance Policies can be viewed on its website www.pacificominerals.com.au.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board's primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. To fulfil this role, the Board
is responsible for oversight of management and the overall corporate governance of the Company including its strategic
direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of these goals.
APPOINTMENTS TO OTHER BOARDS
Directors are required to take into consideration any potential conflicts of interest when accepting appointments to other
Boards.
INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE
The Board has determined that individual directors have the right in connection with their duties and responsibilities as
directors, to seek independent professional advice at the Group's expense. With the exception of expenses for legal advice in
relation to director's rights and duties, the engagement of an outside adviser is subject to prior approval of the Chairman and
this will not be withheld unreasonably.
CONTINUOUS REVIEW OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Directors consider, on an ongoing basis, how management information is presented to them and whether such information is
sufficient to enable them to discharge their duties as directors of the Company. Such information must be sufficient to enable
the directors to determine appropriate operating and financial strategies from time to time in light of changing circumstances
and economic conditions. The directors recognise that mineral exploration is an inherently risky business and that operational
strategies adopted should, notwithstanding, be directed towards improving or maintaining the net worth of the Group.
ASX PRINCIPLES OF GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board has reviewed its current practices in light of the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice
Guidelines with a view to making amendments where applicable after considering the Group's size and the resources it has
available. As the Group's activities develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board and the implementation of any
additional formal corporate governance committees will be given further consideration.
During the year ended 30 June 2014, the Company continued its governance arrangements in accordance with the ASX
Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd Edition). On 27 March 2014,
the ASX Corporate Governance Council released the 3rd Edition Principles and Recommendations, effective from 1 July 2014.
The Group has decided to early adopt the 3rd Edition Recommendations effective from 1 July 2014, and has updated its
corporate governance reporting to report against the 3rd Edition Recommendations.
This statement is current as at 24 September 2014 and was approved by the Board on that date. The following table sets out
the Company's position with regards to its compliance with ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations (3rd Edition):
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ASX Principle

Status Reference/comment

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
1.1

A listed entity should disclose:
a) the functions reserved to the board
and those delegated to senior
management; and
b) Those matters expressly reserved to
the board and those delegated to
management,

A

The Company has adopted this recommendation to disclose the
functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
management. These functions can be viewed at the Company’s
website: www.pacificominerals.com.au.
The Company’s Board comprises four directors, being a
non-executive Chairman, Managing Director and two non-executive
Directors. Therefore the roles and functions of these directors
within the Company are flexible to allow it to best function within its
level of available resources.
The full Board currently meets at least every second month or at
such times as agreed. In addition, strategy meetings and any
extraordinary meetings are held at such other times as may be
necessary to address any specific significant matters that may
arise.

1.2

The Group ensures it thoroughly analyses and reviews the
qualifications and experience of any potential candidate.
Background checks are performed, including speaking with
personal and professional references of potential candidates,
before they are put forward for election.

A listed entity should:
a) undertake appropriate checks before
appointing a person, or putting forward
to security holders a candidate for
election, as a director; and
b) provide security holders with all
material information in its possession
relevant to a decision on whether or
not to elect or re-elect a director.

A

1.3

A listed entity should have a written
agreement with each director and senior
executive setting out the terms of their
appointment.

A

Each director and senior executive has a written contract that sets
out the terms of their appointment, including their responsibilities
and remuneration.

1.4

The company secretary of a listed entity
should be accountable directly to the board,
through the chair, on all matters to do with
the proper functioning of the board.

A

The company secretary is directly accountable to the Board in all its
capacities. Communication between the Board and the company
secretary is encouraged, and matters of corporate governance and
compliance are a standing agenda item for Board discussion.

The Company provides full biographical details of proposed
candidates in any notice of meetings in which a new director is
proposed to be appointed or ratified, as well as information relating
to other directorships and interest which may reasonably be
perceived to influence their capacity to bring independent
judgement to the Board.

Professional development of directors, officers and management
are encouraged by the Company and facilitated through the
company secretary.
The Company adopts a policy of circulating Board minutes at the
earliest possible opportunity following the Board meetings, to
expedite the formalisation of items discussed at the meetings.
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ASX Principle
1.5

1.6

Status Reference/comment

A listed entity should:
a) have a diversity policy which includes
requirements for the board or a
relevant committee of the board to set
measurable objectives for achieving
gender diversity and to assess
annually both the objectives and the
entity’s progress in achieving them;
b) disclose that policy or a summary of it;
and
c) disclose as at the end of each
reporting period the measurable
objectives for achieving gender
diversity set by the board in
accordance with the entity’s diversity
policy and its progress towards
achieving them, and either;
1. the respective proportions of men
and women on the board, in senior
management positions and across
the whole organisation (including
how the entity has defined “senior
executive” for these purposes); or
2. if the entity is a “relevant
employer” under the Workplace
Gender Equality Act, the entity’s
most recent “Gender Equality
Indicators”, as defined in and
published under that Act.

A

A listed entity should:
a) have and disclose the process for
periodically
evaluating
the
performance of the board, its
committees and individual directors;
and
b) disclose, in relation to each reporting
period, whether a performance
evaluation was undertaken in the
reporting period in accordance with
that process.

N/A

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and strives to foster
diversity across the organisation. The Group has adopted a
diversity policy that is disclosed on its Company website.
As at the end of the year, the Group had the following proportion of
men and women across the organisation:

Board
Senior Executives
Whole Organisation

Men
4
3
9

Women
1
1

The Group does not have any set objectives or quotas for gender
diversity across the organisation, rather it employs based on merit
and taking into consideration the most qualified and suited
individual for the role available.

A periodic evaluation of the performance of the Board as a whole
has not been undertaken in the current financial year. Prior to the
acquisition of West Rock Resources, the Board’s primary objective
was to secure a prospective mineral exploration project. Upon the
acquisition of West Rock, this primary objective was satisfied and
the performance of those existing Directors across the financial
year is primarily measured by the achievement of this objective.
Two new Directors were appointed to the Board in August 2013
and have not yet completed a full year of employment/service.
The Company intends on undertaking performance reviews in the
second half of 2014, where the key performance indicators of the
Board will adapt to reflect the Company’s focus on efficiently
executed mineral exploration programs and project analysis.

1.7

A listed entity should:
a) have and disclose a process for
periodically
evaluating
the
performance of senior executives; and
b) disclose, in relation to each reporting
period, whether a performance
evaluation was undertaken in the
reporting period in accordance with
that process.
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A

The Board, excluding the Managing Director is responsible for
evaluating the performance of the Managing Director. This is
achieved by discussion at Board meetings.
The Board as a whole is responsible for evaluating the
performance of senior executives. This is achieved by discussion at
Board meetings.
Performance evaluations for senior executives were conducted in
June 2014.
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ASX Principle
Principle 2:

Status Reference/comment
Structure the board to add value

2.1

The board of a listed entity should:
a) have a nomination committee which:
1. has at least three members, a
majority of whom are independent
directors; and
2. is chaired by an independent
director, and disclose
3. the charter of the committee;
4. the members of the committee;
and
5. as at the end of the reporting
period, the number of times the
committee met throughout the
period
and
the
individual
attendances of the members at
those meetings; or
b) if it does not have a nomination
committee, disclose that fact and the
processes it employs to address board
succession issues and to ensure that
the board has the appropriate balance
of skills, knowledge, experience,
independence and diversity to enable
it to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively.

N/A

The Board has no formal nomination committee. Acting in its
ordinary capacity from time to time as required, the Board carries
out the process of determining the need for, screening and
appointing new directors. In view of the size and resources
available to the Company, it is not considered that a separate
nomination committee would add any substance to this process.

2.2

A listed entity should have and disclose a
board skills matrix setting out the mix of
skills and diversity that the board currently
has or is looking to achieve in its
membership.

A

The Board considers that it currently possesses an appropriate mix
of skills for the level of Group operations. The Company discloses
the skills matrix above.
The Board consists of 4 caucasian males. Candidates for Board
positions are chosen on skills merit, and at this stage the Company
is not seeking further representation on its Board.
As the Group progresses in its business cycle, the Board will
consider the requisite skills that will best complement the
Company’s corporate strategies.

2.3

A listed entity should disclose:
a) the names of the directors
considered by the board to be
independent directors;
b) if a director has an interest,
position,
association
or
relationship of the type described
in Box 2.3 but the board is of the
opinion that it does not
compromise the independence of
the director, the nature of the
interest, position, association or
relationship in question and an
explanation of why the board is of
that opinion; and
c) the length of service of each
director.
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A

The Board considers the following Directors to be independent:
Andrew Parker
Peter Harold
Director appointment and resignation dates are disclosed in the
Company’s annual report, within the Directors’ report.
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ASX Principle

Status Reference/comment

2.4

A majority of the board of a listed entity
should be independent directors.

N/A

Two of the four Directors are considered independent. The
Company believes that the equity ownership of the non-executive
Directors aligns the interests of the Directors with shareholders as
a whole and does not bias the decisions of the Board towards any
personal interests.

2.5

The chair of the board of a listed entity
should be an independent director and, in
particular, should not be the same person as
the CEO of the entity.

N/A

The Chairman of the Company, Richard Monti is a non-executive
director, however, by virtue of his ownership percentage in the
Company, he is not considered independent.

2.6

A listed entity should have a program for
inducting new directors and provide
appropriate
professional
development
opportunities for directors to develop and
maintain the skills and knowledge needed to
perform their role as directors effectively.

A

The Company Secretary ensures that all new directors are inducted
into the Company. Upon commencement, the director formalises a
letter of appointment setting out the terms of their appointment and
is provided with a ‘Corporate Governance Pack’ containing the
Company’s Constitution, Corporate Governance Policies and
details of the Company’s directors’ and officers’ insurance policies.
The skill set of the Board is monitored regularly by the Board as a
whole, taking into consideration the stage of development of the
Group’s assets, and the limited capital available to the Group.

A

The Group has formulated a code of conduct which can be viewed
on the Company’s website www.pacificominerals.com.au.

Principle 3:
3.1

A listed entity should:
(a) have a code of conduct for its directors,
senior executives and employees; and
(b) disclose that code or a summary of it.

Principle 4:
4.1

Act ethically and responsibly

Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting

The board of a listed entity should:
(a) have an audit committee which:
(1) has at least three members, all of
whom are non-executive directors
and a majority of whom are
independent directors; and
(2) is chaired by an independent
director, who is not the chair of the
board, and disclose:
(3) the charter of the committee;
(4) the relevant qualifications and
experience of the members of the
committee; and
(5) in relation to each reporting period,
the number of times the committee
met throughout the period and the
individual attendances of the
members at those meetings; or
(b) if it does not have an audit committee,
disclose that fact and the processes it
employs that independently verify and
safeguard the integrity of its corporate
reporting, including the processes for the
appointment and removal of the external
auditor and the rotation of the audit
engagement partner.
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N/A

Given the Group’s background, the nature and size of its business
and the current stage of its development, the Board comprises only
four Directors, two of whom are considered independent. The
Company believes it is impractical to source additional directors at
this stage of its development, without which it is not possible to form
an independent audit committee.
The Board has adopted an audit committee charter to assist in
defining the roles and responsibilities of the Board as it acts in the
capacity of an audit committee.
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ASX Principle

Status Reference/comment

4.2

The board of a listed entity should, before it
approves the entity’s financial statements for
a financial period, receive from its CEO and
CFO a declaration that, in their opinion, the
financial records of the entity have been
properly maintained and that the financial
statements comply with the appropriate
accounting standards and give a true and
fair view of the financial position and
performance of the entity and that the
opinion has been formed on the basis of a
sound system of risk management and
internal control which is operating effectively.

A

The Company obtains this declaration from the CEO and CFO for
each of its annual and half year financial statements.

4.3

A listed entity that has an AGM should
ensure that its external auditor attends its
AGM and is available to answer questions
from security holders relevant to the audit.

A

The Company ensures that its external auditor attends its AGM and
is available to answer questions.

A

The Company has instigated internal procedures designed to
provide reasonable assurance as to the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, the reliability of financial reporting and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. The Board is acutely aware of
the continuous disclosure regime and there are strong informal
systems in place to ensure compliance, underpinned by experience.

Principle 5.
5.1

Make timely and balanced disclosure

A listed entity should:
(a) have a written policy for complying
with its continuous disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules;
and
(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.

Principle 6:

Respect the rights of security holders

6.1

A listed entity should provide information A
about itself and its governance to investors
via its website.

6.2

A listed entity should design and implement
an investor relations program to facilitate
effective two-way communication with
investors..

A

In line with adherence to continuous disclosure requirements of ASX
all shareholders are kept informed of major developments affecting
the Group. This disclosure is through regular shareholder
communications including the Annual Report, Quarterly Reports, the
Company website and the distribution of specific releases covering
major transactions or evens.
The Company communicates with its shareholders publicly,
primarily by posting this information on the Company’s website,
which in itself complements the official release of material
information to the market.
Further, the annual general meeting is the central forum by which
the Company is able to communicate effectively with shareholders,
providing them with access to information about the Group and
corporate proposals, and enable their participation in decisionmaking.

6.3

A listed entity should disclose the policies
and processes it has in place to facilitate
and encourage participation at meetings of
security holders.

A

The Company monitors the residency of its shareholders and
considers the most appropriate location in which to hold its
shareholder meetings.
Attendees are given opportunities to query the Board on operational
and financial items at every meeting.
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ASX Principle
6.4

Status Reference/comment

A listed entity should give security holders
the option to receive communications from,
and send communications to, the entity and
its security registry electronically.

A

To the extent permissible by law, the Company sends all
communication electronically, and tries to minimise the amount of
paper used in shareholder communications.
As new shareholders join the Company, they are given the
opportunity to receive the annual report electronically via
correspondence from the Company’s share registry.

Principle 7:
7.1

Recognise and manage risk

The board of a listed entity should:
(a) have a committee or committees to
oversee risk, each of which:
(1) has at least three members, a majority
of whom are independent directors;
and
(2) is chaired by an independent director,
and disclose:
(3) the charter of the committee;
(4) the members of the committee; and
(5) as at the end of each reporting period,
the number of times the committee
met throughout the period and the
individual attendances of the members
at those meetings; or
(b) if it does not have a risk committee or
committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose
that fact and the processes it employs for
overseeing the entity’s risk management
framework.

N/A

7.2

The board or a committee of the board
should:
(a) review the entity’s risk management
framework at least annually to satisfy itself
that it continues to be sound; and
(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting
period, whether such a review has taken
place.

A

7.3

A listed entity should disclose:
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how
the function is structured and what role it
performs; or
(b) if it does not have an internal audit
function, that fact and the processes it
employs for evaluating and continually
improving the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control processes.

N/A

7.4

A listed entity should disclose whether it has
any material exposure to economic,
environmental and social sustainability risks
and, if it does, how it manages or intends to
manage those risks.

A

While the Company does not have formalised policies on risk
management the Board recognises its responsibility for identifying
areas of significant business risk and for ensuring that
arrangements are in place for adequately managing these risks.
This issue is regularly reviewed at Board meetings and risk
management culture is encouraged amongst employees and
contractors.
Areas of risk which are regularly considered include:
- performance and funding of exploration activities
- budget control and asset protection
- status of mineral tenements
- land access and native title considerations
- compliance with government laws and regulations
- safety and the environment
- continuous disclosure obligations

See 7.1.

The Company does not have an internal audit function.

The Group is a mineral exploration company and is inherently
exposed to the economic, environmental and social sustainability
risks that are associated with that industry. The Group carefully
considers its operations and their impact on the environment and
local communities.
The Group does not currently hedge its foreign currency
expenditure and is exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rates of
the Australian Dollar, the United States Dollar and the Colombian
Peso.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
ASX Principle
Principle 8:
8.1

8.2

8.3

Status Reference/comment
Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The board of a listed entity should:
(a) have a remuneration committee which:
(1) has at least three members, a majority of
whom are independent directors; and
(2) is chaired by an independent director,
and disclose:
(3) the charter of the committee;
(4) the members of the committee; and
(5) as at the end of each reporting period,
the number of times the committee met
throughout the period and the individual
attendances of the members at those
meetings; or
(b) if it does not have a remuneration
committee, disclose that fact and the
processes it employs for setting the level and
composition of remuneration for directors
and senior executives and ensuring that
such remuneration is appropriate and not
excessive.
A listed entity should separately disclose its
policies and practices regarding the
remuneration of non-executive directors and
the remuneration of executive directors and
other senior executives.
A listed entity which has an equity-based
remuneration scheme should:
a) have a policy on whether participants
are permitted to enter into transactions
(whether through the use of derivatives
or otherwise) which limit the economic
risk of participating in the scheme; and
b) disclose the policy or summary of it.

N/A

The Company does not consider it appropriate to have a
sub-committee of the Board to consider remuneration matters.
Remuneration levels are determined by the Board on an individual
basis, the size of the Company making individual assessment more
appropriate than formal remuneration policies. In doing so, the
Board seeks to retain professional services as is required, at
reasonable market rates, and seeks external advice and market
comparisons where necessary.
Acting in its ordinary capacity, the Board from time to time carries
out the process of considering and determining performance issues
including the identification of matters that may have a material effect
on the price of the Company’s securities. Whenever relevant, any
such matters are reported to ASX.

N/A

The remuneration of executive and non-executive Directors is
reviewed by the Board with the exclusion of the director concerned.
The remuneration of management and employees is reviewed by
the Board and approved by the chairman.

N/A

The Group does not currently have a formal equity-based
remuneration scheme.
Issues of equity incentives to Board and management are approved
or ratified at shareholder meetings.

A = Adopted
N/A = Not adopted
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Notes

2014

2013

$

$

6

502,344

138,399

7

(1,200,236)
(364,046)
(6,219)
(212,600)
(33,114)

(119,910)
(291,162)
(1,442)
(23,193)
(15,359)

(143,439)
(48,014)
(93,650)
(107,135)
(1,148,095)
(2,854,204)
(2,854,204)
-

(38,992)
(54,903)
(79,255)
(51,532)
(537,349)
(537,349)
-

Items that will not be re-classified to profit or loss

-

-

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Net unrealised fair value (loss)/gains on available for sale
financial assets
Movement in foreign exchange translation reserve
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)

-

-

(13,693)
(2,867,897)

(537,349)

(Loss) attributed to the Members

(2,867,897)

(537,349)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) ATTRIBUTED TO THE
MEMBERS

(2,867,897)

(537,349)

REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

EXPENDITURE
Exploration expenses
Salaries and employee benefits expenses
Depreciation expenses
Corporate expenses
Occupancy expenses
Consulting expenses
Administration expenses
Other expenses
Share based payments expenses
Write off of exploration expenditure
(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
INCOME TAX
TOTAL (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

7

31
7,11
8

Other Comprehensive Income

Basic and diluted loss per share for loss attributable to the
ordinary equity holders of the company (cents per share)

30

(0.71)

(0.37)

The above Statement of Profit or Loss & Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to
the Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

Notes

2014
$

2013
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

9

5,534,789

336,689

Trade and other receivables

10

101,761

43,113

5,636,550

379,802

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Exploration and evaluation assets

11

2,392,201

-

Other assets

12

79,484

77,000

Plant and equipment

13

56,228

804

2,527,913

77,804

8,164,463

457,606

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

14

128,624

69,585

Provisions

15

12,981

14,840

141,605

84,425

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

16

-

7,156

Deferred tax liability

17

459,238

-

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

459,238

7,156

TOTAL LIABILITIES

600,843

91,581

7,563,620

366,025

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity

18

18,521,280

9,253,222

Reserves

20

1,386,624

602,883

(12,344,284)

(9,490,080)

7,563,620

366,025

Accumulated losses
TOTAL EQUITY

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

2014
Balance at 1 July 2013

Issued
Capital

Share/Option
Reserve

$

$

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Reserve
$

Accumulated
losses

Total

$

$

9,253,222

602,883

-

(9,490,080)

366,025

(Loss) for the year

-

-

-

(2,854,204)

(2,854,204)

Other comprehensive (loss) for the year

-

-

(13,693)

-

(13,693)

Total comprehensive (loss) for the year

-

-

(13,693)

(2,854,204)

(2,867,897)

Issue of shares and options related to
business combination

2,130,000

687,299

-

-

2,817,299

Issue of shares

7,522,959

-

-

-

7,522,959

-

107,135

-

-

107,135

Share/option based payment transactions
Options issued for cash
Share issue expense

3,000

3,000

(384,901)

-

-

-

(384,901)

18,521,280

1,400,317

(13,693)

(12,344,284)

7,563,620

9,282,222

551,351

-

(8,952,731)

880,842

(Loss) for the year

-

-

-

(537,349)

(537,349)

Other comprehensive (loss) for the year

-

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive (loss) for the year

-

-

-

(537,349)

(537,349)

Issue of shares

-

-

-

-

-

(29,000)

51,532

-

-

22,532

9,253,222

602,883

-

(9,490,080)

366,025

Balance at 30 June 2014
2013
Balance at 1 July 2012

Share issue expense
Balance at 30 June 2013

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Notes

2014
$

2013
$

(1,349,819)

(170,710)

(822,702)

(496,763)

63,118

20,188

-

114,291

(2,109,403)

(532,994)

(57,488)

-

-

200

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Expenditure on mining interests
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Other income received
NET CASH (OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

29

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of equipment and motor vehicle
Cash acquired on business combination

639,797

Payments for purchase of mining properties

(402,171)

-

NET CASH INFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

180,138

200

7,525,959

-

(384,901)

-

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

7,141,058

-

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

5,211,793

(532,794)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

336,689

869,483

Effects of foreign exchange

(13,693)

-

5,534,789

336,689

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issues of shares and options
Payment of share issue costs

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

9

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial report includes the financial statements for
Pacifico Minerals Limited (formerly Jaguar Minerals Limited) (”Parent Entity” or “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 30 June 2014.
The financial report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2014 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Board of Directors of Pacifico Minerals Limited (“Board” or “Directors”) on 24 September 2014. Pacifico Minerals Limited is a
company incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange. The nature of the
operations and principal activities of the Group are the exploration of mineral tenements in Australia and Colombia.
(a)

Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.
(i)

Compliance with IFRS

Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial statements and notes of Pacifico Minerals Limited comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
(ii)

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of availablefor-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, certain
classes of property, plant and equipment and investment property.
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business activities
and realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The going concern of the Group is
dependent upon it maintaining sufficient funds for its operations and commitments. The Directors continue to monitor the ongoing
funding requirements of the Group. The Directors are confident that sufficient funding can be secured if required to enable the
Group to continue as a going concern and as such are of the opinion that the financial report has been appropriately prepared on a
going concern basis.
(b)

Principles of Consolidation
(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls
another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date that control ceases.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group (refer to note 1(d)).
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(ii)

Investment in associates and joint ventures

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the case
where the Group has significant voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting,
after initially being recognised at cost.
A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the
arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. Joint control is defined as the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control. Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. Dividends received or receivable
from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its
investment in its associate or joint venture. An impairment loss is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the
investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income, and is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.
(iii)

Investment in joint operations

A joint operation is an arrangement in which the parties with joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities
relating to that arrangement. In respect of its interest in a joint operation, a joint operator must recognise all of its assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, including its relative share of jointly controlled assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.
(c)

Foreign Currency Translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars, which is Pacifico’s functional and presentation currency.
(ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of
the net investment in a foreign operation. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the income
statement, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement on a net basis
within other income or other expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on nonmonetary assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income.
(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
− assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet
− income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and
− all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
(d)

Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any preexisting equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present
value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
(e)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are classified, identified and segment information disclosed on the basis of internal reports that are
provided to or received by the Group’s chief operating decision maker which, for the Group is its Board. The Group operates in
Australia and Colombia and predominately in the field of mineral exploration.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

1.
(f)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial assets.
(g)

Income tax

The income tax expense or revenue for the year is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.
(h)

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or,
if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included in other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
(i)

Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for an
impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j)

Cash and cash equivalents

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are reported within short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.
(k)

Trade and other receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible debts. An estimate for
doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written-off as incurred.
(l)

Investments and other financial assets
(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification
of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at
each reporting date.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date
which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the balance
sheet.
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that
the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to sell other than an
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as available-forsale. Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those with maturities less than 12 months
from the reporting date, which are classified as current assets.
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.
They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
balance sheet date.
(ii)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value and transaction costs are expensed to the income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are
included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(iii)

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are
presented in the income statement within other income or other expenses in the period in which they arise. Dividend income
from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as part of revenue from continuing
operations when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are
analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. The translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or
loss, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity. Changes in the fair value of other monetary and nonmonetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in equity.
(iv)

Fair value

The fair values of quoted investments are based on last trade prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for
unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible
on entity-specific inputs.
(v)

Impairment

The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a
security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired.
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss
– is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on
equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through the income statement.
(vi)

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement, or for disclosure
purposes.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-forsale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the last trade price.
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values
due to their short-term nature.
(m)

Plant and equipment

All plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their
cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives. The rates vary between 20% and 40% per annum. The assets’
residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying amount
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (note 1(i)).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the income
statement. When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the amounts included in other reserves in respect of those
assets to retained earnings.
(n)

Exploration and evaluation costs

Exploration and evaluation costs are written off in the year they are incurred apart from acquisition costs which are carried forward
where right of tenure of the area of interest is current, and they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful
development and exploitation of the area of interest, or, where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not
reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.
Where an area of interest is abandoned, or the Directors decide that it is not commercial, any accumulated acquisition costs in
respect of that area are written off in the financial period the decision is made. Each area of interest is also reviewed at the end of
each accounting period and accumulated costs written off to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future.
(o)

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year which are
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are paid on normal commercial terms.
(p)

Employee benefits
(i)

Wages and salaries, annual leave and other employee benefits

Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These
benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries,
annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at
their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market
yield as at the reporting date on national government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related
liability, are used.
(ii)

Share-based payments

The Group provides benefits to employees (including Directors) and contractors of the Group in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees and contractors render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled
transactions’).
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an internal valuation using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The cost of equitysettled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting date’).
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects:
 the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and
 the number of options that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest.
This opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market
performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. No
expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market
condition.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(q)

Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, for the acquisition of a business, are not
included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.
(r)

Earnings per share
(i)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent Entity, excluding any costs
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.
(ii)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average
number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
(s)

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable
from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet. Cash flows are
presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow.
(t)

Rounding of amounts

The Group is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission,
relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in
accordance with that Class Order to the nearest $1.
(u)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events.
The key estimates and assumptions that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carring amounts of certain
assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:
(i)

Deferred taxation

The potential deferred tax asset arising from the tax losses and temporary differences have not been recognised as an asset
because recovery of the tax losses is not yet considered probable.
(ii)

Capitalised exploration costs

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement in determining
whether it is likely that future economic benefits are likely, either from exploration or sale, or where activities have not reached a
stage which permits reasonable assessment.
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2.
(a)

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED AND NOT YET ADOPTED
New standards and interpretations adopted in 2013/2014 financial year

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new, revised or
amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. Any significant impact
on the accounting policies of the consolidated entity from the adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations are
disclosed below. The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the
financial performance or position of the consolidated entity.
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the consolidated entity:
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The consolidated entity has applied AASB 10 from 1 July 2013, which has a new
definition of 'control'. Control exists when the reporting entity is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with another entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 'power' over that other entity. A reporting entity has power
when it has rights that give it the current ability to direct the activities that significantly affect the investee's returns. The
consolidated entity not only has to consider its holdings and rights but also the holdings and rights of other shareholders in order to
determine whether it has the necessary power for consolidation purposes.
AASB 11 Joint Arrangements: The consolidated entity has applied AASB 11 from 1 July 2013. The standard defines which entities
qualify as joint arrangements and removes the option to account for joint ventures using proportional consolidation. Joint ventures,
where the parties to the agreement have the rights to the net assets are accounted for using the equity method. Joint operations,
where the parties to the agreements have the rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities, will account for its share of the
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses separately under the appropriate classifications.
AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: The consolidated entity has applied AASB 12 from 1 July 2013. The standard
contains the entire disclosure requirement associated with other entities, being subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements (joint
operations and joint ventures) and unconsolidated structured entities. The disclosure requirements have been significantly
enhanced when compared to the disclosures previously located in AASB 127 'Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements',
AASB 128 'Investments in Associates', AASB 131 'Interests in Joint Ventures' and Interpretation 112 'Consolidation - Special
Purpose Entities'.
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13: The
Group has applied AASB 13 for the first time in the current year. AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope of AASB 13 is broad; the fair value measurement
requirements of AASB 13 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which other AASBs
require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share based payment
transactions that are within the scope of AASB 2 ‘Share-based Payment’, leasing transactions that are within the scope of AASB
117 ‘Leases’, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value for the
purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).
AASB 119 Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from AASB 119 (September 2011): The consolidated entity has applied AASB 119 and its consequential amendments from 1 July
2013. The standard eliminates the corridor approach for the deferral of gains and losses; streamlines the presentation of changes
in assets and liabilities arising from defined benefit plans, including requiring remeasurements to be presented in other
comprehensive income; and enhances the disclosure requirements for defined benefit plans. The standard also changed the
definition of short-term employee benefits, from 'due to' to 'expected to' be settled within 12 months. Annual leave that is not
expected to be wholly settled within 12 months is now discounted allowing for expected salary levels in the future period when the
leave is expected to be taken.
AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle: The
consolidated entity has applied AASB 2012-5 from 1 July 2013. The amendments affect five Australian Accounting Standards as
follows: Confirmation that repeat application of AASB 1 'First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards' is permitted;
Clarification of borrowing cost exemption in AASB 1; Clarification of the comparative information requirements when an entity
provides an optional third column or is required to present a third statement of financial position in accordance with AASB 101
'Presentation of Financial Statements'; Clarification that servicing of equipment is covered by AASB 116 'Property, Plant and
Equipment', if such equipment is used for more than one period; clarification that the tax effect of distributions to holders of equity
instruments and equity transaction costs in AASB 132 'Financial Instruments: Presentation' should be accounted for in accordance
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2.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED AND NOT YET ADOPTED (CONTINUED)

with AASB 112 'Income Taxes'; and clarification of the financial reporting requirements in AASB 134 'Interim Financial Reporting'
and the disclosure requirements of segment assets and liabilities.
AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure
Requirement: The consolidated entity has applied 2011-4 from 1 July 2013, which amends AASB 124 'Related Party Disclosures'
by removing the disclosure requirements for individual key management personnel ('KMP'). Corporations and Related Legislation
Amendment Regulations 2013 and Corporations and Australian Securities and Investments Commission Amendment Regulation
2013 (No.1) now specify the KMP disclosure requirements to be included within the Directors' report.
(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations issued by the AASB which are not yet mandatorily
applicable to the Group have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which may be relevant
to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments and associated Amending Standards (applicable for annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2017). AASB 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under
AASB 9, financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics
of their contractual cash flows. The 2010 revisions introduce additional changes relating to financial liabilities. The Standard will
be applicable retrospectively (subject to the comment on hedge accounting below) and includes revised requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and derecognition requirements for financial
instruments and simplified requirements for hedge accounting. Key changes made to this standard that may affect the Group on
initial application include certain simplifications to the classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of
embedded derivatives, and the irrevocable election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading in other comprehensive income. AASB 9 also introduces a new model for hedge accounting that will allow
greater flexibility in the ability to hedge risk, particularly with respect to hedges of non-financial items. Should the entity elect to
change hedge policies in line with the new hedge accounting requirements of AASB 9, the application of such accounting would
be largely prospective. Although the Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the Group’s financial
instruments, including hedging activity, it is impractical at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact.
The following standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods:
Standard/Interpretation
AASB 1031 ‘Materiality’ (2013)
AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities’
AASB 2013-3 ‘Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets’
AASB 2013-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of
Hedge Accounting
AASB 2013-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Investment Entities
AASB 2013-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial
Instruments’
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short-term deposits. The policy is to monitor the interest rate yield
curve out to 120 days to ensure a balance is maintained between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return. At 30
June 2014, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year-end rates with all other variables held constant,
post-tax loss would have been $54,547 lower/higher (2013 – change of 100 bps: $3,222 lower/higher) as a result of lower interest
income. The Group's exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities, both
recognised and unrecognised at the balance date, are as follows:
2014

Fixed interest rate maturing in:

Financial instrument
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total financial liabilities

Floating
interest
rate

1 year
or less

1 to 5
years

$

$

$

$

$

$

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

5,454,668
5,454,668

-

-

-

80,121
64,783
79,484
224,388

5,534,789
64,783
79,484
5,679,056

3.1
-

-

-

-

-

59,811
68,813
128,624

59,811
68,813
128,624

-

2013

Fixed interest rate maturing in:

Financial instrument
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other assets
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Total financial liabilities
(b)

Total
More than Non-interest
carrying amount
5 years
bearing

Floating
interest
rate

1 year
or less

1 to 5
years

$

$

$

Total
More than Non-interest
carrying amount
5 years
bearing
$

$

$

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

322,193
322,193

-

-

-

14,496
31,992
77,000
123,488

336,689
31,992
77,000
445,681

3.0
-

-

-

-

-

57,585
12,000
69,585

57,585
12,000
69,585

-

Net fair values

All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised, at the balance date, at amounts approximating their carrying value.
(c)

Credit risk exposures

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk, at balance date, is the carrying
amount (net of provision of doubtful debts) of those assets as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial
statements. As the Group does not presently have any debtors other than GST receivable, lending, significant stock levels or any
other credit risk, a formal credit risk management policy is not maintained.
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4.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 19 August 2013, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of West Rock Resources Limited (“West Rock
Resources” now West Rock Resources Pty Ltd), a company based in Australia that, through its wholly owned subsidiaries,
explores for minerals in Colombia. The details of the business combination are set out below:
$

Fair value of consideration transferred
Cash
Equity instruments – 100,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares
Equity instruments – 30,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares (Class A deferred shares)
Equity instruments - options
Fair value of consideration issued
Contingent consideration
30,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to be issued upon satisfaction of Milestone 2 (Class B deferred
Shares) – 20% probability applied
Total fair value of consideration
Recognised amounts of identifiable net assets

Book Value
$

1,500,000
630,000
561,298
2,691,298
126,000
2,817,298

Fair Value
Adjustment
$

Fair Value
$

Cash
Trade and other receivables
Total Current Assets

639,797
133,711
773,508

-

639,797
133,711
773,508

Plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation properties
Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

4,155
4,155
777,663

3,482,553
3,482,553
3,482,553

4,155
3,482,553
3,486,708
4,260,216

Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

(173,659)
(465,593)
(639,252)

-

(173,659)
(465,593)
(639,252)

Deferred tax liability
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

(639,252)

(803,666)
(803,666)
(803,666)

(803,666)
(803,666)
(1,442,918)

138,411

2,678,887

2,817,298
639,797
639,797

Identifiable Net Assets
Consideration transferred in cash
Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Net cash inflow on acquisition
(a)

Equity instruments issued

The value of equity instruments issued was determined based on both a deemed issue price of $0.015 per share, being the
equivalent price of the capital raising that was a condition precedent to the transaction proceeding, and the share price on the date
of the acquisition, 19 August 2013, being $0.021.
The closing share price of the Parent Entity on the ASX on the day prior to the acquisition announcement dated 7 May 2013 was
$0.01 per share.
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4.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

The milestone in relation to the issue of Class A Deferred Shares was the designation of one of West Rock Resource’s projects as
a ‘project of merit’ under the terms of the Strategic Alliance Agreement with Cliffs Natural Resources Inc. This milestone was
satisfied prior to the date of acquisition. Consequently, the Class A Deferred Shares were issued on the date of acquisition and
form part of the fair value of equity consideration issued. The milestone for the Class B Performance shares to be issued is the
delineation, within 4 years of the date of the agreement of:
a JORC code compliant inferred resource of 1m oz Au equivalent at > 2 grams per tonne gold equivalent; or
a JORC code compliant inferred resource of 1Mt Cu equivalent at > 0.5% Cu equivalent; or
a JORC code compliant inferred resource of 4.5m oz Au equivalent at > 0.75 g/t Au equivalent.
At acquisition date, management estimated the probability of the milestone for the Class B Performance shares being achieved as
20%.
(b)

Identifiable net assets

The fair values of the identifiable net assets of West Rock Resources at 19 August 2013 have been adjusted via an increase in the
value of exploration and evaluation assets. In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, the value of exploration and
evaluation assets acquired are capitalised, and as further exploration and evaluation expenses are incurred, costs are written off
during the period.
(c)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

In the period from 19 August 2013 to 30 June 2014, West Rock Resources contributed a loss of $577,640 to the Group’s result. If
the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2013, management estimates that the consolidated loss of the Group would have
increased by $85,880, as a result of additional exploration expenditure incurred by West Rock Resources in the period from 1
July 2013 to 19 August 2013.
5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its
performance. Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance is based on exploration in the two principal locations of its projects – Australia and Colombia.
Information regarding these segments is presented below. The revenues and profit generated by each of the Group’s operating
segments and segment assets and liabilities are summarised as follows:
$
Australia
Segment Revenues
Segment Operating (Losses)
Segment Assets
Segment Liabilities
6.

2014
502,344
(1,205,009)
8,037,412
(551,677)

2013
138,399
(537,349)
457,606
91,581

$
Colombia
2014
2013
(1,649,194)
127,051
(49,167)
-

$
Total
2014
502,344
(2,854,203)
8,164,463
(600,844)

2013
138,399
(537,349)
457,606
91,581

REVENUE

From continuing operations
Other revenue
Interest
Contributions from Cliffs Natural Resources – Strategic Alliance
Sundry Income
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Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
61,935
439,226
1,183
502,344

20,188
118,211
138,399
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7.

EXPENSES

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation asset write-off
8.

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
6,219
1,442
1,200,236
119,910
1,148,095
-

INCOME TAX

(a) Income tax expense/(benefit)
Current tax
Deferred tax
Adjustments for current tax of prior years
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax
payable
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense
Prima facie tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2012: 30%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating
taxable income:
Sundry items
Unrecognised temporary differences
Tax effect of current year tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has
been recognised
Income tax expense/(benefit)
(c) Unrecognised temporary differences
Deferred Tax Assets (at 30%)
On Income Tax Account
Section 40-880 deductions
Accumulated depreciation
Accruals and provisions for employee entitlements
Carry forward tax losses
Deferred Tax Liabilities (at 30%)
Exploration and evaluation assets

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
-

-

(2,854,204)
(856,261)

(537,349)
(161,204)

549,861
(306,400)
(23,606)

13,455
(147,749)
(3,018)

330,006

150,767

-

-

87,587

13,282

-

440

12,159
2,995,776
3,095,522

11,446
2,814,924
2,840,092

459,238

-

Net deferred tax assets have not been brought to account, as it is not probable within the immediate future that tax profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
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9.

CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the balance sheet and the
statement of cash flows
10.

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
400
5,534,789
336,289
5,534,789

336,689

CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
Goods and services tax receivable
16,774
13,391
Other receivables
48,009
18,601
Prepayments
36,978
11,121
101,761
43,113
None of the above receivables are past due and therefore are not impaired and are within initial trade terms.
11.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS – EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Balance at beginning of the year
Additions
Reduction of Deferred Tax Liability (Note 17)
Write-downs
Balance at the end of the year
12.

-

NON-CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER

Bonds and security deposits
13.

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
3,884,724
(344,428)
(1,148,095)
2,392,201

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
79,484
77,000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$

Plant and equipment
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount
Plant and equipment – movement
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Closing net carrying amount
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70,335
(14,107)
56,228

10,153
(9,349)
804

804
61,643
(6,219)
56,228

2,246
(1,442)
804
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14. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
59,811
57,585
68,813
12,000
128,624
69,585

Trade payables
Other payables and accruals

15. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
12,981
14,840

Provision for Annual leave
16. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
7,156

Provision for Long Service Leave
17. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
Deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Beginning Exploration and evaluation on acquisition
Reduction of Deferred Tax Liability due to impairment
Deferred Tax Liability

803,666
(344,428)
459,238

-

18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
(a)
Share capital
2014

Ordinary shares fully paid
Total contributed equity
(b)

Notes
18(d)

Number of
shares
543,092,523
543,092,523

2013
$

Number of shares

$

18,521,280
18,521,280

146,404,000
146,404,000

9,253,222
9,253,222

Movements in ordinary share capital

Beginning of the financial year
Issued during the year:
26 March 2014 issued for cash at 3.8 cents
7 March 2014 issued for cash at 3.8 cents
19 August 2013 issued for cash at 1.5 cents
19 August 2013 issued as consideration for
purchase of West Rock Resources
Less: Transaction costs
End of the financial year
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2014
Number of shares
$
146,404,000
9,253,222

2013
Number of shares
$
146,404,000
9,282,222

58,157,918
95,000,000
113,530,605

2,210,000
3,610,000
1,702,959

-

-

130,000,000

2,130,000

-

-

543,092,523

(384,901)
18,521,280

146,404,000

(29,000)
9,253,222
Page 51

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (CONTINUED)
(c)

Movements in options on issue
Number of options
2014
2013
5,200,000
3,000,000
104,100,000
5,200,000
(17,897,403)
(3,000,000)
91,402,597
5,200,000

Beginning of the financial year
Issued during the year:
Expired or lapsed during the year
End of the financial year
Options on issue at the end of the year have the following exercise prices and expiry dates:
2014

2013

Issue Date

Number

Ex. Price

Expiry Date

Issue Date

Number

Ex. Price

Expiry Date

16 Nov 12
19 Aug 13
19 Aug 13
20 Aug 13
5 Nov 13
5 Nov 13
20 Dec 13
20 Dec 13
Total

5,200,000
21,311,455
20,791,142
30,000,000
6,000,000
6,000,000
1,150,000
950,000
91,402,597

$0.035
$0.03
$0.06
$0.03
$0.03
$0.06
$0.03
$0.06

31 Dec 15
19 Jul 16
19 Jul 16
19 Aug 16
4 Oct 16
4 Oct 16
19 Dec 16
19 Dec 16

16 Nov 12
Total

5,200,000
5,200,000

$0.035

31 Dec 15

Options on issue at the end of the year have a weighted average exercise price of 3.94 cents (2013: 3.5 cents) and a weighted
average expiry period of 2.09 years (2013: 2.50 years).
(d)

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Parent Entity in proportion to
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in
person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.
(e)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide
returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital. The Group looks to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in, or explore a project is seen as value adding relative to
the Parent Entity’s share price at the time of investment.
19. DIVIDENDS
No dividends were paid during the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made.
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20. RESERVES
Nature and purpose of reserves
(a)

Share/Option reserve

The share/option reserve is used to recognise the fair value of shares/options issued.

Balance at beginning of year
Issue of options
Balance at end of year
(b)

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
602,883
551,351
797,434
51,532
1,400,317
602,883

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations that do not use Australian Dollars as their functional currency. It is also used to recognise gains
and losses arising from hedges on the net investments in foreign operations.

Balance at beginning of year
Exchange differences arising on translating the foreign operations
Balance at end of year

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
(13,693)
(13,693)
-

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)

Financial risk management objectives

The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The consolidated entity's overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These
methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, and ageing analysis for
credit risk.
Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (”Finance Executives”) under policies approved by the Board. These
policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the consolidated entity and appropriate procedures, controls and
risk limits. Finance Executives identify, evaluate and hedge financial risks within the consolidated entity's operating units. Finance
Executives report to the Board on a monthly basis.
(b)

Market risk
(i)

Foreign currency risk

The consolidated entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk
through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash
flow forecasting.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The carrying amount of the consolidated entity's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the
reporting date was as follows:
Assets
2014
$
127,051

Consolidated
Colombian Pesos

2013
$
-

Liabilities
2014
2013
$
$
49,167
-

Based on the net exposure to foreign currencies, a change in the foreign exchange rate as at the end of the year would affect
the Group’s financial results as set out below:
Assets
Currency Translation Effect

% Change

Colombian Pesos strengthens against
Australian Dollar
Colombian Pesos weakens against
Australian Dollar
(ii)

2014
$

Equity
2013
$

2014
$

2013
$

+10%

14,117

-

8,654

-

-10%

(11,550)

-

(7,081)

-

Price risk

The consolidated entity is not currently exposed to commodity price risk as it is in the exploration phase. The consolidated entity is
indirectly exposed to commodity price movements such as gold, copper and silver as movements in the prices of these
commodities may affect the ability of the consolidated entity to access capital markets.
(iii)

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity's main interest rate risk arises from cash and term deposits held at variable interest rates. Term deposits
issued at fixed rates expose the consolidated entity to fair value risk. The Group policy is to maximise interest rate returns, having
regard to the cash requirements of the exploration and administration operations of the business.
(iv)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
consolidated entity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the
financial statements.
(v)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents)
to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring actual and
forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Pacifico Minerals Ltd | Annual Report 2014

Page 54

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014

22. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
Parent

Total current assets

2014
$
5,565,725

2013
$
379,802

Total assets

8,247,394

457,606

Total current liabilities

(92,440)

(84,425)

Total liabilities

(92,440)

(91,581)

18,521,280
1,400,317
(11,766,643)
8,154,954

9,253,222
602,883
(9,490,080)
366,025

Equity
Issued capital
Share based payments reserve
Accumulated losses
Total equity
(a)

Contingent Liabilities

The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013.
(b)

Capital Commitments

The parent entity had no capital commitments as at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013.
(c)

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1, except for
the following:
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.
23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following wholly-owned subsidiaries in
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1:
Ownership interest

Name
West Rock Resources Pty Ltd
West Rock Resources Panama Inc
West Rock Resources Sucursal Colombia (Branch)
Golden Pacifico Exploration SAS
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Principal Place of
Business / Country
of Incorporation
Australia
Panama
Colombia
Colombia

2014
100%
100%
100%
100%

2013
-
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24. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditors of the Group, its related practices
and non-related audit firms:
Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
(a) Audit services
Stantons International - audit and review of financial reports
Total remuneration for audit services
(b) Non-Audit services
None during the year

34,589
34,589

18,078
18,078

-

-

25. CONTINGENCIES
There are no material contingent liabilities or contingent assets of the Group at balance date.
26. COMMITMENTS
The Group has expenditure obligations with respect to tenement lease rentals and the minimum expenditure requirements with
respect to mineral tenements. If the Group decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet these obligations, assets
recognised in the balance sheet may require review to determine the appropriateness of carrying values. The sale, transfer or
farm-out of exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish these obligations.
(a)

Exploration commitments

Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years

(b)

Remuneration commitments

Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years

(c)

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
534,761
490,985
534,761
490,985

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
54,750
198,380
396,760
54,750
595,140

Acquisition/vendor commitments

Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
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Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
1,716,601
7,860,287
9,576,888
-
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27. INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS
The consolidated entity recognises its share of jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations. These
have been incorporated into the financial statements under the appropriate classifications. Information relating to joint operations
that are material to the Group are set out below:
Berrio Gold Project (Pacifico 8.6%)
The consolidated entity is responsible for conducting all exploration operations at the Berrio Gold Project in Colombia. Pacifico has
the ability to earn a 90% interest in the vendor’s share of project licences. Pacifico will undertake a phased exploration program
aimed at identifying an economic mineral resource and at the satisfactory completion of each year of exploration, make further
payments to the vendors as follows:
(a) End year 1: Pacifico can choose to pay USD$750,000 for 30% of the vendor’s interest in the titles;
(b) End year 2: Pacifico can choose to pay an additional USD$735,000 for 51% of the vendor’s interest in the titles; and
(c) End year 3: Pacifico can choose to pay an additional USD$1,365,000 for 90% of the vendor’s interest in the titles.
Borroloola West Project (alliance earning up to 80%)
The Group and Cliffs Natural Resources previously had a contractual agreement to source and commercialise mineral projects
(the “Alliance”). On 1 July 2013 the Alliance executed a binding agreement with Sandfire Resources NL to acquire up to an 80%
interest in the Borroloola West Project. The Alliance has the right to 90% ownership of the license area under the following terms:
(a) First earn-in: the Alliance to spend $1,500,000 within 2 years (including minimum $500k in year 1) to earn 51%;
(b) Second earn-in: the Alliance may elect to earn an additional 19% by sole funding $2,500,000 within a further period of 2
years; and
(c) Third earn-in: the Alliance may elect to earn an additional 10% interest by spending a further $3,000,000 within a further
period of 2 years or sole funding a bankable feasibility study.
Mt Jukes Project (Pacifico 20%)
The Mt Jukes Project is operated by Corona Gold Ltd, and comprises the Mt Jukes, EL 51/2008 and Miners Ridge, EL 12/2009
tenements. Pacifico has elected to participate in the Mt Jukes JV at its current 20% equity level.
Springfield Project (Pacifico 20%)
The Springfield project is operated by Meridien Resources Ltd and comprises one tenement in New South Wales. Pacifico’s 20%
interest will be free carried to feasibility.
28. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this
report or the Financial Statements, that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent years with the exception of the following, the financial effects of which
have not been provided for in the 30 June 2014 Financial Report:
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29. CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Reconciliation of net loss after income tax to net cash outflow from operating activities

Net loss for the year
Non-Cash Items
Depreciation of non-current assets
Write off exploration expenditure
Profit from sale of fixed assets
Share based payments
Change in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in trade assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash outflow from operating activities

Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$
(2,854,204)
(537,349)
6,219
1,148,095
107,135

1,442
(200)
51,532

75,062
(2,484)
(580,211)
(9,015)
(2,109,403)

(41)
(8,000)
(15,303)
(25,075)
(532,994)

30. LOSS PER SHARE
(a)

Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss per share
Consolidated
2014
2013
$
$

Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Parent Entity used in
calculating basic and diluted loss per share
(b)

(2,854,204)

(537,349)

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Consolidated
2014

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in
calculating basic and diluted loss per share
(c)

402,503,727

2013
146,404,000

Information on the classification of options

As the Group has made a loss for the year ended 30 June 2014, all options on issue are considered antidilutive and have not been
included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. These options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the
future.
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31. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Set out below are the terms of options issued during the period, and those that contributed to the share based payments expense
disclosed in the statement of financial performance:
Total Value
Grant Date
19 August 2013(1)
19 August 2013(1)
20 August 2013(2)
5 November 2013
5 November 2013
20 December 2013
20 December 2013

(1)
(2)

Expiry Date
19 July 2016
19 July 2016
19 August 2016
4 October 2016
4 October 2016
19 December 2016
19 December 2016

Exercise Price
$0.03
$0.06
$0.03
$0.03
$0.06
$0.03
$0.06

Number
30,000,000
30,000,000
30,000,000
6,000,000
6,000,000
1,150,000
950,000
104,100,000

$
327,976
233,322
3,000
51,678
35,496
12,572
7,389
671,433

Share Based
Payment
$
327,976
233,322
51,678
35,496
12,572
7,389
668,433

On 19 August 2013, 60,000,000 options were issued to vendors as consideration for the acquisition of West Rock Resources. The value of these
options has been capitalised as part of the purchase price consideration, and do not form part of the share based payments disclosed in the statement
of financial performance.
On 20 August 2013, 30,000,000 options were issued to clients of Argonaut Securities. Options were issued for cash consideration of $3,000, and do
not form part of share based payments disclosed in the statement of financial performance.

For options issued during the year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at grant date, are as follows:
Grant Date

Expiry Date

19 August 2013
19 August 2013
5 November 2013
5 November 2013
20 December 2013
20 December 2013

19 July 2016
19 July 2016
4 October 2016
4 October 2016
19 December 2016
19 December 2016

Share Price at
Grant Date
$0.021
$0.021
$0.018
$0.018
$0.021
$0.021

Exercise
Price
$0.03
$0.06
$0.03
$0.06
$0.03
$0.06

Volatility
92.6%
92.6%
92.6%
92.6%
92.6%
92.6%

Risk Free
Interest Rate
3.05%
3.05%
3.05%
3.05%
3.05%
3.05%

Fair Value at
Grant Date
$0.0109
$0.0078
$0.0086
$0.0059
$0.0109
$0.0078

The assumed dividend yield for Pacifico shares in relation to all options issued is Nil.
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group has no related parties other than the issue of shares and options issued to Simon Noon and Peter Harold as
compensation for the acquisition of West Rock Resources on 19 August 2013.
Shares and options issued as compensation for acquisition of West Rock Resources are as follows:

Simon Noon
Peter Harold
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Shares
18,594,659
4,250,945

Options
17,897,403
7,875,000
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In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Pacifico Minerals Limited, I state that:
In the opinion of the Directors:


the financial statements and notes set out on pages 32 to 59 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements; and
giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for the
financial year ended on that date; and
the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 17 to 19 of the Directors’ report comply with Accounting
Standards AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards



there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable; and



this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance
with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ending 30 June 2014.

On behalf of the Board

Richard Monti
Chairman
24 September 2014
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Stantons International Audit and Consulting Pty Ltd
trading as

PO Box 1908
West Perth WA 6872
Australia

Chartered Accountants and Consultants

Level 2, 1 Walker Avenue
West Perth WA 6005
Australia
Tel: +61 8 9481 3188
Fax: +61 8 9321 1204
ABN: 84 144 581 519
www.stantons.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
PACIFICO MINERALS LIMITED

Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Pacifico Minerals Limited, which comprises
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the consolidated statement of
profit of loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration
of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or
from time to time during the financial year.
Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In note 1(a), the directors also state, in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements,
that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Auditing Standards
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved
under Professional Standards Legislation
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Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.
Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:
(a)

the financial report of Pacifico Minerals Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:
(i)
(ii)

(b)

giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2014
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and
complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001; and

the financial report of the Company also complies with International Financial Reporting
Standards as disclosed in note 1(a).

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 17 to 19 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2014. The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards
Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion the remuneration report of Pacifico Minerals Limited for the year ended 30 June
2014 complies with section 300 A of the Corporations Act 2001.
STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD
(Trading as Stantons International)
(An Authorised Audit Company)

Martin Michalik
Director
West Perth, Western Australia
24 September 2014
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information requested by the Australian Stock Exchange and not shown elsewhere in the report is as follows:
The information is current as at 23 September 2014.
(a)

Distribution of equity securities
Ordinary Shares

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding

Number of holders

Number of shares

1-1,000

69

15,152

1,001 - 5,000

24

83,942

5,001 - 10,000

66

610,089

10,001 - 100,000

249

11,266,113

100,001 and over

436

531,117,227

Total on register

844

543,092,523

The number of equity security holders holding less than a marketable
parcel of securities are:

169

834,946

(b)

Twenty largest shareholders

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

Listed ordinary shares
Number of shares
Percentage of ordinary
shares
25,454,799
4.69%
19,019,407
3.50%
18,857,817
3.47%
18,835,308
3.47%
18,241,769
3.36%
14,394,737
2.65%
11,800,000
2.17%
11,294,737
2.08%
10,171,189
1.87%
9,920,000
1.83%
9,000,000
1.66%
8,740,162
1.61%
8,396,252
1.55%
7,817,496
1.44%
6,800,000
1.25%
6,394,737
1.18%
6,100,000
1.12%
6,000,000
1.10%
5,750,000
1.06%
5,394,754
0.99%

HSBC CUSTODY NOM AUST LIM
BOLTON BARRIE R + LING H
NOON SIMON ALEXANDER
GREATCITY CORP PL
BROWN SIMON
PAKSIAN PL
CLARK TRAVIS ROHAN
PERSHING AUST NOM PL
HOLMES DONALD SHANE + S
JOSSELIN PL
HOTLAKE PL
J P MORGAN NOM AUST LTD
CANTORI PL
HSBC CUSTODY NOM AUST LTD
BOXWOOD PL
ARGONAUT EQUITY PTNRS PL
GECKO RES PL
BEELONG PL
ELLEN AMANDA LEE
PETER BOWMAN NOM PL
Top 20 Total
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228,383,164

42.05%
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(c)

Substantial Shareholders

There are no substantial shareholders
(d)

Voting rights

All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction.
(e)

Schedule of interests in mining tenements
Location

Tenement ID

Berrio - Colombia
Berrio - Colombia
Berrio - Colombia
Berrio - Colombia
Berrio - Colombia
Berrio - Colombia
Berrio - Colombia
Urrao – Colombia
Urrao – Colombia
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Borroloola – Northern Territory
Mount Jukes – Tasmania
Miners Ridge – Tasmania
Springfield – NSW

IDI-16112X
IDI-16113X
HINN-02
JG1-09552
T1935005
IHF-08012
T1928005
2791
IHL-16271
EL24401
EL26587
EL26837
EL26938
EL26939
EL28508
EL28534
EL28540
EL28541
EL28657
EL28658
EL28659
MLN624
EL30157
EL30302
EL30305
EL51/2008
EL12/2009
EL4220
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Percentage
held/earning
8.6% / 90%
8.6% / 90%
8.6% / 90%
8.6% / 90%
8.6% / 90%
7.5% / 78.5%
5.7% / 60%
51% / 100%
51% / 100%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
0% / 80%
20%
20%
20%
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